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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

IN RE ALLERGAN GENERIC DRUG PRICING C1Vil Action No. 16-9449 (KSH) (CLW)

SECURITIES LITIGATION
OPINION

Katharine S. Hayden, U.S.D.J.

In this putativeclass action under Sect®d0(b), 20(a), and 14(aj the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, plaintiff investoafiege that th@harmaceutical company Allergan, six
of its top executives—d&l Bisarg Brenton L. Saunders, R. Todd Joyce, Maria T. Hilado,
Sigurdur O. Olafsson, and David A. Buchen, @adBoard of Directorgcollectively “Allergan”)
knowingly misled investors about tigenericdrugmarketin violation of federal securities laws.
Specifically, Allergan is alleged to haparticipated in a generic drug prifiging conspiracy
that caused the prices of generic drugs sold by Allergan anddsnaepirators “to skyrocket up
to 7,000% during the class period,” defirexDctober 20130 November 2016.(D.E. 91, Opp.
Br. 1)

Before the Court is Allergasmotionto dismiss thesecond amended complaint under
Rule 12(b)(6) (D.E. 87)arguing primarily that the complai(®.E. 82, 2d Am. Comp).is not
pleaded with the requisite particularity under the Private Securities Litigaeform Act of
1995 (“PSLRA"), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4, and Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. For
reasons expressed in this opinion, Allergan’s motion tmidss denied.

I.  Factual Background

The second amended complaint alleges as follows.
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A. The Parties

Lead plaintiffs are Sjunde AP-Fonden, a Swedish state pension fund, and Union Asset
Management Holding AG, a German investment grolgh. 1§ 38-39.) Each allegethat it
acquired Allergan stock at artificially inflated prices during the classgamd suffered
damages as a result of federal securities law violatidds. (

Corporate defendant Allergasma pharmaceuticalompanyincorporated in Ireland with
its administrative headquarters located in Parsippany, New Jetdey.40.) In the last five
years, Allergan has been involved in two acquisitiomsNovember 2014, Allergan was
acquired by the corporation Actavis plc, adopting Allergan plc as its new glohal nal.

142.) In July 2015, Teva announgedagreement with Allergan to acquiketavis Pharra,
Allergan’s generics busingder $33.75 billion in cash and $6.75 billion in Teva stock, and the
acquisition was completed in August 2016&. {43.)

The six individual defendants are former and current hegiing corporate officers of
Allergan. Bisarcserved as Allergan’s CEO and president between October 2013 and July 2014.
(Id. 144.) Saunders replaced Bisaro in July 2014 and serves as Allergan’s curreabCEO
president. If. 145.) Joyce served as Allergan’s CFO from October 2009 to December 2014,
when Hlado assumed the roleld(1146-47.) From April 2012 until June 2014, Olafsson
served as director of Allergan and President of Actavis Phaneaegment thancluded
Allergan’s generics businesdd(f48.) Buchen was Allergan’s chikfgal officer and secretary
from April 2012 to July 2014. The remaining named defendants served on Allergan’s Board of
Directors in 2014 and 2015 (“Director Defendants”).

Under the heading “The G0onspirators,” defined as “[v]arious other persons, firms,

corporations, and entitigthat] participated as coconspirators with Allergan in the anti



competitive conduct alleged [in the complaint],” plaintiffs provide the following exdmaustive
list: “Lannett; Impax; Heritage; Mylan; Epic Pharma, LLC (“Epic”); W&gard Pharmaceutical
Corporation (“WesWard”); MutualPharmaceutical (“Mutual”); Perrigo Company plc
(“Perrigo”), Taro Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. (“Taro”), Auramnand Teva USA. (Id.
166.)

B. The Generic Drug Market

A generic drudis essentially an exact substitute for the braache drug.” Id. 7 68.)
The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term RestorationcAotmonlyknown as the Hateh
Waxman Act, wagnacted in 1984 to “simplify the regulatory hurdles for bringing genericsdrug
to market.” [d. {1 67.) The Act eliminated the requirement that generic drug companies file
costly New Drug Applications (“NDAs”) to obtain FDA approval, instead altmygeneic drug
companies to file an Abbreviated NDA, or AND#hich relieson the data supplied by the
original NDA holder for a given drug.ld. 1 6768.)

The first generic drug to entre market is generally priced 15-20% lower than the
brand name drug, and the HadMfaxman Act provides the generic drug company ads30
exclusivity period that allowthe companyo market itsversion free from competition.d(

1 69.) Following this periodjyeneric competitors enter the marketthe price of a generic
drug reaches “an equilibrium price point, at or close to the manufacturershalgmgpduction
costs.” (Id. T 70.) Once that price point is reached, price increases without commercial
justification are according to plaintiffs, “contrary t@[manufacturer’'s] economic interests
because on an open market, each seller risk[s] being undercut by the others, leaduitapse

of market share (and therefore revenue)d’) (



C. Governmental Investigationsinto Allergan’s Alleged Anti-Competitive Conduct

This lawsuit was filecftertwo developments in governmahinvestigations into the
generic pharmaceutical industry: ¢hgefiling of thefirst criminal charges the U.S.
Department of Justice@ngong investigationfiled December 12 and 13, 2016; andt(®
filing of a civil lawsuit brought by the Attorneys General of 20 stdilesl Deeemberl5, 2016.
(2d Am. Compl. 91 18, 21). Allergan received a subpoena frotd$B©J in June 2015d.

1 15) and is a defendant in thiate AG actioni@. § 11). Additionally, various civil antitrust
actions alleging pricéixing have been consolidated into dfiltidistrict litigations seven of
which name Allergan among the defendantd. [ 16)

D. Allegations as to each of th&ix Generic Drugs

Plaintiffs assert pricéixing and anti-competitive conduct that raised the prices of six
specific drugs produced by Allergan: propranolol, ursodiol, doxycycline, desonidparela
and glyburidemetformin.

1. Propranolol

On the market since the 1960s, propranolol is a beta-blocker used to treat high blood
pressure and irregular heart rate and to prevent migra{lte§] 106.) Propranolol is on the
Core List within the World Health Organization’s (“WHQO”) Model List ofséatial Medicines.
(Id. 1139.) Between Decemb&014 andDecembe015, Allergan, Heritage, Impax, and
Mylan raised the price of generic propranolol 10 mg, 20 mg, amigB@blets by as much as
1200%. Plaintiffs allege that thse“drasticincreasgs] . . .occurredshortly after/and or in
conjunction with . . trade association meetings” attended by representatives from Allergan,

Heritage, Impax, and MylanId 11110, 113, 116.)



2. Ursodiol

Ursodiol is used to treat gallbladder stonesiamgnerally prescribed foatients with
small gallstones who cannot undergo gallbladder surgéyf {25.) In Allergan’s 2014 Form
10K, it identified Ursodiol as one of approximately 25 “key produtisit“comprised a
majority of product sales for North American Genericdd.)(Allergan, Epic, and Lannett, who
together accounted for more than 95% of the total market for generic ursodiol 300mgsapsul
2014, raised the prices dhis product by as much as 2000% beginning in mid-20i4 11126,
133) Plaintiffs allege that these increases coincided with trade association magenged by
Allergan and certain coonspirators. I¢. 1 129.)

3. Doxycycline

Doxycycline is a broadpectrum antibiotic used to treat a variety of bacterial infections
andwhen prescribeth combination with quinine, malaria(ld.  139.) Doxycycline is on the
Core List within the WHO’s Model List of Essential Medicines, and Allengaiuded it as one
of its “key products” that “comprised a majority of product sales fotiNamerican Genericsh
both its 2013 and 2014 Form 10-K@&d.) Beginning in early 2013, Allergan, Mutual, and West-
Ward, who together accounted for more than 95% of the total market foradogyicycline
50mg and 100ng capsules and 100g tabletsi@. 1 153), raised the prices of their doxycycline
by as muchas 7000% i@. § 140). Plaintiffs allege that these “drastic” increases occurred in
conjunction with the Generic Pharmaceutical Association (“GPhA”) 2013 annuaingéet
February 2013 and the National Association of Chain Drug Stores (“NACDS”) 201&lannu

meeting in April 2013. I¢l. 11 143, 146, 149.)

L A Form 10K is an annual report required by the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission thaprovidesa comprehensive summary of a company’s financial performance.



4. Desonide

Desonidds a mild topical corticosteroid cream that reduces the swelling, itching, and
redness symptomatic of a variety of skin conditiond. (158.) Allergan entered thearketfor
this drug in September 2013, and listed desonide cream as a “key produttdthprised a
majority of product sales for North American Generics” in its 2013 and 2014 Form. 10aks
In the six monthsnor to Allergan’s entry into the desonide cream marKetro and Perrigo
raised the price of a 1gm tube of desonide 0.05% cream by as much as 470%4] 169.)
Plaintiffs allege that upon Allergan’s entry in September 2013, “it joined the caoggind
offered its version of the drug at the inflated price established by Co-Catospifaro and
Perrigo.” (d. 1159.) Plaintiffs assert that the increase in price and Allergan’s entrance into the
market at an inflated price occurred “shyp#dfter” three trade association meetings attended by
representatives from Allergan, Taro, Perrigo, and other co-conspirators: the2ZBPBAnnual
meeting in February; the NACDS 2013 annual meeting in April; and the GPhA 2013 CMC
Workshop in June.Id. 1162.) In 2013 and 2014, Allergan, Taro, and Peragmuntedor
100% of the total market for 15 gm tubes of desonide 0.05% crddn{ 166.)

5. Verapamil and Glyburide-Metformin

Verapamil is used to treat high blood pressure and fast or irregular heaaitd&bs
prevent angina.ld. §172.) Glyburidemetformin is a combination medication used to control
high blood sugar in type 2 diabetes patienid. {173.)

The allegations related to Allergan’s priteing activities with respect teerapamil and
glyburideimetformin are drawn from the amended stsBecomplaint, which describes
“knowingly collusiveactivity that was purposefully conducted duringperson meetings, phone

calls, and text messages in an effort to conceal proof of the illegal agreénfeht§ 171.) As



assertedn the amended AG complaint and allegedly “supported by evidence directly produced
to or made available to the Attorneys General, Heritage decided that it wantes foriees for
these two drugs and set about contacting representatives at each of the aoogpeganies.”

(Id. 1174.) Heritage’sompetitordor verapamilwere Mylan and Allergan arfdr glyburide-
metformin competitors wergllergan, Teva USAand Aurobindo. I¢l.) Plaintiffsallege the
timeline of Allergan’s involvement as follows

175.  On or around April 22, 2014, an Allergan representative spoke to a
memberof the Heritage sales team for nine minutes and agreed to increase the
prices for GlyburideMetformin and Verapamil. These agreements between
Heritage and Allergan to increase the prides Verapamil and Glyburide
Metformin were reflected in an August 214 text message exchange between
representatives from Sun and another co-conspirator.

176. Following the April 22, 2014 callwith Heritage, the Allergan
representativeeonveyedto the Allergan sales and price teams that Heritage
wanted to increasethe prices on Verapamil and GlyburideMetformin. For
example,immediatelyafter speakingo the Heritagerepresentativethe Allergan
representativecontacted two different Allergan Senior Pricing Managers.
Thereatfter, the information regarding the piic@ease spread quickly amongst the
sales and price teams at Allergan.

177.  In an internal Allergan email dated April 28, 2014,an Allergan
pricing managecommentean alist of potentiabpriceincreases$or differentdrugs.
Just dewdayslater,onMay 1, 2014, one of theecipientsof theinternal Allergan
email regardingprice increasesalled arepresentativat TevaUSA, which was
alreadya partyto the GlyburideMetformin price-fixing agreementvith Heritage.
The Allergan and Teva USA representativespokethreemoretimes on May 6,
2014, including onecall that lasted fifteen minutes. Those representatives
continuedto communicatdérequentlyover thenextseveralmonths. As detailedin
theAmendedAG Complaint,TevaUSA hadmorethan 330phone otext message
conversationsvith Allergan during the onerear period from July 2013to July
2014, includingmore than 110 phone ortext message&onversationbetween
May 2014 and July014.Representatives from Allergan also hadularcontact
with representativeBom Aurobindo, anothecompetitorin thegenericGlyburide-
Metformin market,including two phonecalls on May 12, 2014and thirty text
messagebetweerMay 19, 2014 andilay 22, 2014.

178. On May 6, 2014, an Allergan representativevho had also received
the April 28, 2014 email discussedabove called a Mylan representativeand
left a messageThe Mylan representativeeturnedthe call on May 9, 2014and



the ensuingonversationastedmorethanthreeminutes.The AllerganandMylan
representativespoke again on May 19, 2014for nearly sevenminutes and
continuedo communicatdrequently over theextseveraimonths.

(2d Am. Compl.f1175-78.) Plaintiffs assert that “[n] the basis of thesefacts, among others,
the State Attorneys General namedAllergan, Mylan, Heritage, Teva USA and Aurobindoas
defendantsn the AmendedAG Complaint” (Id. 1179.)

E. Allergan’s Statements to Investors

Plaintiffs haveset forth dist of allegedly misleading statements spanning the class

period. See2d Am. Compl. 1 195-233.) These statements can be divided into the following
five categories:
1. Statements Explaining Allegan’s Participation in the Markdiergan’s annual reports (Form
10Ks) contained descriptions of the U.S. pharmaceutical maifketexample, describing the
market as “highly competitive” and asserting that Allergan “actively congletefthe generic
pharmaceutical industry.”Id. 11197, 199, 209, 219 Statements inness releases attached to
Allergan’s current reports (Formi8s) (id. 11 195, 204), quarterly earnings caits {1196, 204
05, 21112), andatthe 2016RBC Capital Markets Healthcare Conferenice { 217) described

Allergan’s patrticipation in the market, including causes and sources l@fg&h’s financial
performance.

2. Statements Regarding the DOJ Investigation. On August 6, 2015, defendant Saundesd appe
on CNBC’sMad Moneywith Jim Kramer and addressed the announcement that the DOJ issued
Allergan a subpoenald; T 214.) He characterized the DOJ investigation as a “red herring” and
attributed pricing inaases to “supply and demand” influencdsl.) (

3. Statements of IncomeAllergan reported its financial results in annual reports (Forr <))
quarterly reports (Form 1Qs), and current reports (Formk&). (d. § 221.) Additionally,
plaintiffs allege that the 2014 and 2015 proxies incorporated by reference the relevant Form 10Ks
and Form 10s. (d., n.13, 14.)

4. Sarbane®xley (“SOX") Certifications. Each of Allergan’s Form 1Bs and Form 14Qs
contained SOX certifications. Over the classgmkrBisaro, Saunders, Joyce, and Hilado signed
these certifications.|dq. 11 224, 226, 228, 230.)

5. Code of Conduct. Throughout the class period, Allergan’s Foriisl&presented that
Allergan had adopted a Code of Conduct which prohibited employees from “discuss[ing] with, or
provid[ing] information to, any competitor about pricing or related matters,” idedtified
“[a]lgreements or upstanding with competitors on price” as “conduct thatesohatavis policy.”

(Id. 1 232.)




II.  Procedural History
The original two-count complain{D.E. 1)in this case was filedn December 22, 2016
against Allergan and individual defendants Saunders, Bisaro, Hilado, and Joyadleged
violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule-3 @mainstall deendants, and
violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Against the individual defendantsdt was first
amended on May 1, 201D.E. 36) to include two additional counts for violations of Section 14(a)
of the Exchange Act and Rule 19againstillergan’s2014 and 2015 Boards of Directors. The
amended complaint also added individual defendants Olafsson and Buchen.
On July 17, 2017Allergan moved to dismiss all claims ithe amended complairfbr
failure to state a claim upon which relief cangoanted(D.E. 59). In responselaintiffs filed a
motion to supplement and amend (D.E. 79). The Court granted plaintiffs’ motioAJlarghn
filed this motion to dismisgshe second amended complaint (D.E..87Mhe Court heard oral
argumenbn April 11, 2019. (D.E. 120, Transcript.)
[1I. Legal Standard
Allerganmoves pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon
which relief can be grantedo survive dismissala complaint must contain sufficient factual
matter, accepted as true” to state a facially plausible claim for régtfcroft vigbal, 556 U.S.
662, 678 (2009) (quotinBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb)\650 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)A
plausible claim is one that permits the court to “draw the reasonable inferernites thiafendant
is liable for the misconduct allegedFowler v. UPMCShadyside578 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir.

2009) (quotinggbal, 556 U.S. at 678). Fundamentally, the plausibility determination is a

20n June 7, 2017, the Court filed a stipulation and order (D.E. 47) consoliRateaberg v.
Allergan PLC No. 17-00189, into the present consolidated actiore Allergan Generic Drug
Pricing Securities LitigationNo. 16-9449, for all purposes.



“contextspecific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experiand
common sense.1d. at 211 (quotinggbal, 556 U.S. at 679).
IV.  Discussion

A. Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-&laim

Allergan seeks dismissal of Count 1 of the second amended complaint, which asserts
violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule3 @bomulgated thereunder against
Allergan and théndividual defendants Section 10(b) and Rule 18baddressfalse or misleading
statements or omissions of material fact that affect trading on the secondkey. mAurlington
Coat Factory,114 F.3dat 1417. Section 10(b) prohibits the “use or employ[ment], in connection
with the purchase or sale of any segyrit. . [of] any manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission mageresc
15 U.S.C. 8§ 78j(b). Rule 166, in turn, makes it illegal “[tjo make any untrue statement of a
materal fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements mad
the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleadimgconnection with
the purchase or sale of any security.” 17 C.F.R. 8§ 240.16p-5

To state a claim under Section 10(b) and Rule3,0fa plaintiff must demonstrate: (1) a
material misrepresentation (or omission); (2) scientera )nnection between the misstatement
and thepurchase or sale of a security; (diance upon thenisstatement; (5) economic loss; and
(6) loss causation.’Fan v. StoneMor Partners L.B27 F.3d 710, 714 (3d Cir. 2019) (citi@gty
of Cambridge Ret. Sys. v. Altisource Asset Mgmt. G&® F.3d 872, 879 (3d Cir. 2018)).

Becausea claim brought undeiSection 10(b) and Rule 1@bconstitutes draud claim,
plaintiffs are required to “state with particularity the circumstances constitdtangd or

mistake.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b)*Rule 9(b)’'s heightened pleading standard gives defendants notice

1C



of the claims against them, provides an increased measure of protection foegbtions, and
reduces the number of frivolous suits brought solely to extract settleménts.Burlington Coat
Factory Sec. Litig.114 F.3d 1410, 1418 (3d Cir. 1997). Moreover, plaintiffs must satisfy the
“greater particularity requirementsiiposed by the PLSRA, enacted “to supplement the Rule 9(b)
standard with a ‘uniform and stringent pleading requart.” ” In re Campbell Soup Co. Sec.
Litig., 145 F. Supp. 2d 574, 585 (D.N.J. 2001) (Irenas, J.) (quoREPSNO. 10498, at 15 (1995),
as reprinted inL995 U.S.C.C.A.N. 679, 694). The PSLRA sets heightened pleading requirements
for the misrepresertian and scienter elements. With respect to misrepresentation, the complaint
must “specify each statement alleged to have been misleading [and] threoeasasons why the
statement is misleading.” 15 U.S.C. § 7Hb)(1). As to scienter, the complamust “state with
particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendat wih the required state
of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78d{b)(2)(A).
1. Price-Fixing Conspiracy

As a threshold issue, Allergan asserts that plaintiffs fail to plausibly al@geefixing
conspiracy—a predicate to finding any of the categories of purported misstatementifalse
misleading. (D.E. 87-1, Moving Br. 22Transcript26:10-13.)

To adeguately pleac pricefixing scheme, a complaint must allege “enotagttual matter
(taken as true) to suggest that an agreement was mBed#.Atl. Corp, 550 U.S. at 556. “[A]
plaintiff must plead either direct evidence of an agreement or circunastavidence.”Burtch v.
Milberg Factors, Inc. 662 F.3d 212, 225 (3d Cir. 2011)Difect evidence of a conspiracy is
‘evidence that is explicit and requires no inferences to establish the prapositionclusion being
asserted.” ”Id. (quotingln re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig618 F.3d 300, 324 (3d Cir. 2010)).

Absent direct evidence, a plaintiff may plead parallel price increaseg @it “circumstantial

11



facts supporting the inference that a conspiracy existekhited Statey. Apple, Inc. 791 F.3d
290, 315 (2d Cir. 2015%ee alsdBurtch 662 F.3d at 226°Circumstantial evidence of parallel
behavior must be pled in a context that raises a suggestion of a preggdmmgent, not merely
parallel conduct that could just as well be independent actigntérnal citations omitted).

Plaintiffs’ brief in opposition to defendants’ motion to dismsssnmarizes the allegations
of an underlying price-fixing conspiracy as follows:

Beginning in 2013, the prices for several commoptgscribed generic drugs
skyrocketed. During the Class Period, Allergan and itsartspirators increased

the prices of propranolol, ursodiol, doxycycline, and desonide between 470% and
7,000%, following years of stable pricing. 1107, 126, 140, 159. Msa@seno
commercial justification for these price increases. 71117, 130, 150, 163. Indeed,
absent collusion, price increases of these magnitudes would have been contrary t
Allergan’s and each of its emonspirators’ economic interests because on an open
market, each seller risked being undercut by the others, leading to a collapse of
market share (and therefore revenue). 11118, 131, 151, 164. As set forth below,
these astonishing price increases were due to an illicit-fixiog conspiracy.

Indeed, theAmended AG Complaint details specific communications between
executives from Allergan and other drug companiggluding Heritage
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Heritage”), whose former President and Chief tiseecu
Officer both pled guilty to charges of antitrugiolations—eoncerning their
agreement to fix the prices of two additional generic drugs, as well as texgesgessa
and emails confirming these agreements. /11

In addition to this direct evidence of collusion, {peesent|Complaint includes
extensve allegations of circumstantial evidence of collusion. The gixteg
conspiracy was possible because the markets for each of Allergan’d-iRade
Drugs were highly susceptible to collusion: the market for each-Prxesl Drug

was highly concentrated; there were considerable barriers to entry, a lack of
possible substitutes, and a high degree of interchangeability (meaningcthaf ea
Allergan’s PriceFixed Drugs could be substituted for another manufacturer’s
version of the same drug); and the nedskfor the Pricé-ixed Drugswere
dominated by Allergan and its coconspirators such that the conspiracy could not be
threatened by soalled fringe sellers. 11782, 119-24, 132-38, 152-57, 165-70.

Moreover, senior executives from Allergan and itscoaspirators had regular
opportunities to discuss these price hikes in person. Representatives from
Allergan—including Bisaro and Olafsson, as well as senior members of Allergan’s
generics business dugnthe Class Periedroutinely attended conferences,
meetings, and pharmaceutical trade shows, as well as informatoféamse

12



meetings during “industry dinners” and other events, all of which provided

numerous opportunities to meet and devise the4iiraeg schene. 1183104, 141,

14344, 14647, 149, 160, 162, 256, 264. And witnesses, including Allergan’s

former Associate Director of Finance, confirmed that the Allergan éixesuwho

attended the industry eventsnany of which preceded these unprecedeptaxt

hikes—were responsible for the generic drug pricing at the Company. 1185-86. As

depicted in the graphs in the Complaint, parallel price increases of thé-Fece

Drugs occurred shortly after and/or in conjunction with these trade meetings

19108 16, 127-29, 141-49, 160-61.

(Opp. Br. 6-7.)

At the motion to dismiss stagelaintiffs’ allegations suffice to adequately plead the
existence of an agreementfix prices The complaint allegelsoth direct and indirect evidence
of an agreement. For example, plaintiffs point to communications betweeniesecddifferent
companies regarding price incregsassleast two of whom pleaded guilty to violating antitrust
laws Plaintiffs also poinhto various opportunities to collude, including a host of communications
and various trade association meetjmggevant market conditiorend attributesand the timing
of parallel price increase#t this stageno more is required.

The Courtmoves on towhether the elements of plaintiffs’ Section 10(b) claim have been
adequately pleaded.

2. Material Misrepresentations

Allergan argues that the complaint fails to allege “an affirmative statemeidreshfalse
and misleading by the alleged prfieing.” (Moving Br. 14.) “To prevail on a § 10(b) claim, a
plaintiff must show that the defendant made a statement that méseadingas to
amaterialfact.” ” Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusan®63 U.S. 27, 38 (2011yuotingBasic
Inc. v. Levinson 485 U.S. 224, 238 (1988)) (emphasis in original) C.F.R.§8 240.10b5(b).

“[T] he misleading nature of a statement is evaluated ‘in the light of the ciemomastunder which’

it is made.” City of Cambridge Ret. Sy908 F.3chat882 (quoting 17 C.F.R. § 240.1&(b)). “A

13



statement or omission imaterially misleading if there is ‘a substantial likelihood that the
disclosure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investmings h
significantly altered the ‘total mix’ ohformation availableto that investof. De Vito v. Liquid
Holdings Grp., Inc.No. 156969, 2018 WL 6891832, at *28 (D.N.J. Dec. 31, 2018) (McNulty, J.)
(quotingMatrixx Initiatives, Inc, 563 U.Sat 38) (emphasis addedBecause materiality is a fac
specific issue, courts have determined it is “better resolved by the fact’findeat *28 (citing

In re Adams Golf, IncSec Litig., 381 F.3d 267, 274 (3d Cir. 2004) (“Materiality is ordinarily an
issue left to the factfinder and is therefore not typically a matter for R{l&)(6) dismissal.’)

To restatethePSLRA’spatrticularized pleading standard requires ttia complaint shall specify
each statement alleged to have been misleading, [and] the reason or reasons \atgnibatss
misleading.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u4{(b)(1)

According to plaintiffs, Allergan’s statementsspecified in the complaint qualify as
misrepresentatiabecausahey omit thefact that Allergan was participating in anticompetitive
conduct in the generic drugamet. As explained above, the Court has found that conduct to be
sufficiently pleaded to survive a motion to dismissherefore,when analyzingwhether these
statements are matallly misleading, the Couxtill applythe materiality standard articulated by
the Supreme Court Basic Inc. v. Levinsgmand determingvhether “the disclosure [that Allergan
was engaged in antompetitive conduct in the generic drug market] would have been viewed by
the reasonable investas having significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of information available’ to
that investor.” 485 U.S. at 231-32.

The complaintidentifies various statements allegedly made materially misleading by
Allergan’s failure to disclose its underlying wrongagi These statements fall infove

categories:(1) statements explaining Allergan’s participation tire market; (2) statements

14



regarding the DOJ investigation; (3) statements of incomde; SOX certifications; and
(5) Allergan’s Code of Conduct.
a) StatementsExplaining Allergan’s Participation in the Market
The first and largest categooy statementselates tdthe competitive nature of the
generic drug market and the source of Allergan’s revenues.” (2d Am. Cofr§at.){ For
example, with respect to competition in the generic drug market, Allergan gtatidlowing in
its 2013 and 2014 Form 1Cs:
Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive.ln our Actavis Pharma and
Actavis Specialty Brands businesses, we compete with different companies
depending upon product categories, and within each product category, upon dosage
strengths and drug delivery systems. Such competitors include the major brand
name and generic manufacturers of pharmaceutical products. In addition to product
development, other competitive factors in the pharmaceutical industry include
product quality and price, reputati@md service and access to proprietary and
technical information.

* % %

We actively compete in the generic pharmaceutical industry.

* % %

[T]he level of market share, revenues and gross profit attributable to a
particular generic product normally is related to the number of competitors

in that product’'s market, pricing and the timing of that product’'s regulatory
approval and launch, in relation to competing approvals and launches.

* * %

In addition to competition from other generic drug manufacturems, face
competition from brand name companies in the generic markeMany of these
companies seek to participate in sales of generic products by, among oth&r thing
collaborating with other generic pharmaceutical companies or by marketing the
own generic equivalent to their brand products as Authorized Generics. Ouar majo
competitors include Teva Pharmaceutical Industries, Ltd., Mylan Inc. and Sandoz,
Inc. (a division of Novartis AG).

(Id. 111 199, 208 (emphasis #d Am. Compl).) Allergan’s 2015 Form & contained similar

language, but acknowledged the sale of its generics business to Teva:
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As a result of the Teva Transaction, the Company’s global generiasebsiss
classified as discontinued operatior@ur discontinued operations actively
competedsic] in the generic pharmaceutical industry.

(Id. T 219 émphass in 2d Am. Compl).)

The complaint additionally details statemealt®utthe source of Allergan’s revenue and
how Allergan participated in the generic drug markebr example, in a press release attached to
Allergan’s 3Q 2013-orm 8K, Bisaro stated:

Strong global growth in our Actavis Pharma segment was driven by our ability

to capitalize on product opportunities from our industry leading R&D

pipeline. In the U.S., we launched generic versions of Lidoderm® and Opana®

ER and received FDA approval of a generic version of Lamictal® OIV&.also

confirmed that we have initiated U.S. patent challenges on such important products
as generic versions of Nucynta ER® and Suboxone® Sublingual Film.

(Id. 1 195.) Ina quarterly earnings cash October 29, 201 38liscussing these same thagdarter
results, Olafsson stated:
With regard to the generic pricing outlook at a high level, what has happened
probably over the lagtvo years is it has been morenemon that obviously there
is aprice erosion in the market due to the consolidaBarithere is opportunities
[sic] to take pricing increasesand that is what has changed since maybe five years
ago when there wasn’'t an opportunifjhese pricing increases have been in
products where there has been manufacturing problems or stoefut situation.
So | think that has been a fact in the US genearket, that there is an opportunity
to take price increases. But also at the same time with the environment on the
consolidation of the customers, clearly there is a pricing pressure oveth# i
market.
(Id. 1 196.)
A similar press release was atiad to Allergan’'s 2Q 2014 Formi8 where Bisaro
credited Allergan’s “exceptional performance” to “double digit revermow in both our North
American brand and generics business and Anda distribution,” and attributed the “stwwtig g

within [Allergan's] generics business” to its “strong base business along with continueg stron

sales of the generic versions of Lidoderm® and Cymbalta®” §(204.) In the related quarterly
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earning call on August 5, 2014, an analyst from Leerink Partners inquired about the “US generic
pricing outlook for 2014 and 2015” and asked whether Allergan had “factored any aggressive
pricing increases” into the Company’s guidance numbeld.) (Saunders credited Allergan’s
“strong supply chain and the reliability of higjuality supply” for providing Allergan with “more
opportunities to take price [increases]Id.] Buchen added that Allergan’s “diverse portfolio”
allowed the company to “react very quickly when there are pricing opportugnitiethe ability to

take more share.”ld. § 205.)

On a May 11, 2015 conference call, an analyst from Guggenheim Securities LLCaasked f
Allergan’s thoughts on “generic drug pricing given that there have been osrhbat it may not
be as favorable going forward.”ld( § 211.) Saunders responded: “There are obviously a few
products that go up but the model for generics is price decreases as more congpetieoirsto
the market. That is just the way the business workd$d.) (Bisaro followed up Saunders’s
statement by explaininigpat Allergan’s “pipeline and product line gives us a bit of an advantage
because of the uniqueness of it and allows us to be somewhat insulated fronethergduction
of prices.” (d. 1 212.)

Finally, the complaint alleges that at the RBC Capitaikdis Healthcare Conference in
February 2016, Saunders claimed: “We have never been aggressive price takers. . .[W]e have
always explained that this is a customer kvegn relationship and to the extent you poke them in
the eye over and over again, they are going to poke back.” He further noted:

We look to take price increases as we believe we can, but we have never done
it in a significant way because our products don’t lend themselves to that in
large part. But also our business model and our philosophy doesn’t lend itself
to that.

*%k%

And this idea that you can just take price increases as you see fit is really not
true. There are anomalies and there are companies that have figured out how to
exploit that system, but the reality is every price increase comes with a reaction
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They are highly negotiated and the system does, for the most part, work. There
are, again, anomalies to it, but it does work.

(Id. 1217.)

The complaint alleges th#tese statements are materially false and misleading because
Allergan failed to disclose that it engagéen anticompetitive conduct. Iqd. 1220.) More
specifically, it asserts thdb]y electing to speak publicly about Allergan’s generic drug
business-specifically, pricing and competition for generic drugs and revenue from thage-€dr
and thereby putting these subjects into play during earnings calls with sharefamidan SEC
filing, Defendants had a duty to fully, completely, and truthfully disclose allenal facts
regardinggeneric drug pricinggcompetition and revenueso as not to mislead investors.Id.j
Allergan argues that the “pages of Allergan’s general comments about its growtlutarel
prospects . . . not a single one of which mentioned any of the drugs at issue inghiseras
merely “general and vagusatements of optimism, known as ‘puffery,” which do not create
Section 10(b) liability.(Moving. Br. 16.)

The Third Circuit has held that “[c]ertain vague and general statemerpirafssn” may
not be actionable because they “constitute no morephéery’ and are ndestood by reasonable
investors as such Burlington Coat Factory114 F.3cht1428 n.14. In accordllergan relies on
Galati v. Commerce Bancorp, Inonvhere the court found that “statements concerning the
Company’s ‘dramatic deposit growth,” ‘strong performance,” and ‘unique business model,’
constitute[d] nothing more than meguffery,” insufficient to sustain a Rule 186 claim.” 220
F. App’x 97, 102 (3d Cir. 2007).

But while some ofAllergan’s statements might be facially similar to the statements
discounted inGalati, they must be considered within the context of Allergan’s statements

attributing its generics business’s revenue, growth, and pricinggyréo legitimate business
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factors and conditions. These statetadall outside the bounds of mere puffery and are
actionable.See Roofer’s Pension Fund v. Papi. 162805, 2018 WL 3601229, at *12 (D.N.J.
July 27, 2018) (Arleo, J.) (defendants’ statements regarding the competitivertassgieneric
drug market weractionable where an underlying prfieing scheme was sufficiently pleaded);
see also In re Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litp. 061041, 2000 WL 1234601, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 30, 2000) (statement that competition was “intense” despite colludgtihg
competitor was actionabld) re Mylan N.V. Sec. LitigNo. 167926, 2018 WL 1595985, at *7
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2018) (“If, as plaintiffs allege, Mylan was engaged in a variety of
anticompetitive practicesoften in collusion with Mylan’s competitorsthen these statements
[about competitive generic drug market] are misleading in the absence of asuliscbf that
anticompetitive conduct.”)

Allergan madeaepeated representations tiatability to take price increases wdse to
factors such as its “stng supply chain and the reliability of higjuality supply” {d. T 204),
“diverse portfolio” {d. § 205), and the “uniqueness” of its “pipeline and product lirek"| 212).
Plaintiffs assert that “[t{jhesg#tatements were false and misleading when made because, unknown
to investors, [Allergan’s] pricéixing scheme was a factor driving the revenue and market share
of [its] generics business and the price increases for its generic’d(Oggp. Br. 19.)While there
is generally “no . . . duty on the part of a company to provide the public with all material
information,” Burlington CoatFactory 114 F.3d at 1432, the Third Circiias recognized that a
duty to disclose arises when there is “an inaccuratemplete or misleading prior disclosure,”
Oran v. Stafford226 F.3d 275, 2886 (3d Cir. 2000).Courts have held thatatements crediting
revenues to legitimate business facious thesource of the revenue at issue, thereby making the

company’s failue to disclose a source of that revemisleading SeeSteiner v. MedQuist Inc.
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No. 045487,2006 WL 2827740, at *16 (D.N.J. Sept. 29, 2008)mandle, J.Xstatements
attributing revenues to legitimate business factors such as increaseder@enislading because
they failed to disclose defendants’ illicit billing schem€jty of Roseville Emps. Ret. Sys. v.
Horizon Lines, InG.686 F. Supp. 2d 404, 416 (D. Del. 2009) (falsely “attributing [financial]
performance to only lawful conduct falls below the level of honesty required by dheties
laws.”).

Here, Allergan’s statements regardihg source of its revenue were misleading because
they failed to disclose facts about its anticompetitive corefautts that are material, as they
“would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly alteftetathmaix’
of information made available.Basig 485 U.S. at 231-32.

b) Statements Regarding the DOJ Investigation

On August 6, 2015, Saunders appeared on CNBG&v, Mad Money (Id. § 214.)
Addressing the market reaction to the issuance of the DOJ subpoena, Saundeeshiodd, tJim
Kramer,that “the DOJ investigation really is a red herring” and, incihvtext of Allergan, was
“not that significant.” Saunders claimed that any pricing increases that caa@®fs attention
were solely attributable to “supply and demand” influencéd.) Plaintiffs allege that[tlhese
statementsvere false and misleading because Allergan was engaged in a scHentbd@rices
of its generic drugs.” (Opp. Br. 18.)

Allergan stresses th#te DOJ subpoena “did not involve any of the drugs at issue in the
Complaint” (Moving Br. 20) as if that fact somehowitiates any possibility thatSaunders’s
statementsegarding the subpoengere materially misleadingBut as plaintiffs allegehrough
the entirety of the complainf Allergan was engaged in a prifiging conspiracyinvolving any

drugs, therBaunders’s statemerdescribing a criminahvestigationof anticompetitive conduct
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in the generic drug markes “not that significant’and “a red herring” aren fact, misleading
Allergan’s additionalargument—that these statements were “immateriatduse Allergan had
already announced the sale of the entire generics business teT al&@ fails. That an alleged
co-conspirator agreed to acquire Allergan’s generic business has no bearing @atettiality or
falsity of Saunders’s statements regagdihe government’s investigation of illegal pricang.
c) Statements of IncomeSOX Certifications, and Code of Conduct

Allergan argues that the complaint falls short of adequately pleading maatseidod or
misleading statements its statements of income, SOX certifications, and code of conduct. The
Court disagrees. Plaintiffs have effectively pleaded-@mipetitive conduct with factual
assertions aboulramaticprice increases and a wide range of investigatory efforts and é¢lants
plausibly belie Allergan’s justifications. Theseree categories are natural corollaries to the
alleged conduct, and surgical removal risks confusion and is not required at this pstageig
The allegations are preserved.

In sum,the second aended complairdedequately pleads thatlergan’s statements
about its participation in the generic drug market and Saunders’s statemesfsoimse to the
DOJ investigation announcememtre false or misleadingatisfying he material
misrepresentatioalement

3. Scienter

Allergan argues that plaintiffs’ Section 10(b) claifails because“there are no
particularized allegations supporting a strong inference that Allergand &adth scienter.”
(Moving Br. 28.) “Scienter” stands for the “mental state [of] intent to deceive, manipulate or
defraud.” Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder425 U.S. 185, 193 n. 12 (19767J.0 sufficiently plead

scienter, a plaintiff must “state with particularity facts giving rise to a strongeimfe that the

21



defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. 8{#8(2). The inference “must

be more than merely plausible or reasonabtenrust be cogent and at least as compelling as any
opposing inference of nonfraudulent intgritellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, L6561 U.S.
308, 314 (2007)yet the Supreme Court has stopped short of requiririgrafutable” inference,
“i.e. of the ‘smokinggun’ genrg’ id. at 324. “Rather, in conducting the scienter analysis, courts
must analyze the complaint holistically to determine whether its allegations, takectively,

give rise to a strong inferencd scienter, not whether any individual allegation, scrutinized in
isolation, meets that standard.1ri re Hertz Glob. Holdings In®05 F.3d 106, 114 (3d Cir. 2018)
(quoting Tellabs 551 U.S. at 323).Taking the factual allegations in tikemplaintcollectively
andas trueplaintiffs have adequately pled scienter.

“[O]ngoing investigations into anticompetitive pricing in the market may ssmte‘a
piece of the puzzle when taking a ‘holistic’ view of the purported facts asdlatg to scienter”
Utesch v. Lannett Co., IncNo. 165932, 2019 WL 2136467, at *9 (E.D. Pa. May 15, 2019)
(quotingIn re Gentiva Sec. Litig932 F. Supp.2d 352, 380 (E.D.N.Y. 2013)). Here, they are a
significant piece bthe puzzle. Allergan is currently a named defendant arwbispirator in the
Amended AG Complaint and has received a subpoena as part of the DOJ’s crimirfkipgce
investigatior—each action an investigation into whether-@otinpetitive conduct tkto the recent
increases in generic drug prices. Additionally, the DOJ and the state AGs ndiveed the
likelihood of new and expanded charges in these prol§gd. Am. Compl. 1 24, 1923.)
Allergan’s minimization of the import of these related civil and criminal investigationsdgthe
scope of the investigations and the particularized facts and evidence aeeadg from them.

Additionally, the complaint affirmatively alleges that “there was no reasonable

explanation for the price hikes"—no supply shortagesaneported, nowerethere significant
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increass in demand for the drug¥.et Allergan’s officers repeatedly represented that the price
increases were attributabletienign market explanations, such as supply and demand issues
(see, e.g.2d Am. Compl. 1 196 These pricing increases have been in products where there has
been manufacturing problems or stock-out situatiomd”)§f 214 (Saunders in hidad Money
appearancattribuing pricing increases among Allergan’s generic drugs to “supply and
demand”))

Finally, a “core operations” inferena@ay be made under the circumstances. alsvs
knowledge of fraud to be imputed to individual defendants wherelldged fraud relates the
core business of the compangee Campbell Soup Cd45 F. Supp. 2dt 599 feasoning that
“[w]hile asserting that defendants approved or helped prepare public disde#sefficient to
establish knowledge of all aspects of the company’s business . . . knowledge imgpyteel to
individual defendants when the disclosures involve the company’s core buginédaintiffs
have asserted thétlergan’s generic drug sales comprised a substantial portids mvenues
andoperations during the class period, accounting for 32% of 2014’s total revenues and jumping
to 42% in 2015. (2d Am. Compl. T 251.) Therefdhey contendit is “implausible that the
Individual Defendants, who were the Company’s semiost executives, were unaware of the
historically colossal price increases and the gfixiag agreements with G&onspirators.” I¢l.)

Allergan argues that “[t]h&ore operations’ doctrine does not apply where, as here, the
products at issue do not make up a significant portion of the core operations’ réedimg,
Rahman v. Kid Brands, Inc/36 F.3d 237, 247 (3d Cir. 2013), in support. (Moving Br. 32 n.15.)
One of the reasons put forthKid Brandswhy the core operations doctrine did not appbs
that the company’andisclosed customs violatiorssulted in anticipated liabilities of $10

million, an amount deemed too insignificant be“regarded as affecting the ‘core operations’ of
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a company that had hundreds of millions of dollars in annuaates.” 736 F.3d at 247The
Court disagrees with how Allergan has extrapolated the holdidgliBrands. The casaloes
not, as Allergan asserts, require “the products at issuehaié up a significant portion of the
core operations’ revenugthe court was analyzing whether thalar value of thdiabilities
resulting from the customs violatiom&re such that they impacted the company’s core
operations. More to the poimlaintiffs’ allegationghat Allergan’s generic drug sales
comprised a substantial portion of its revenues and operations during the class2pefiod (
Compl. 251 pndthatAllergan has designatetree of the six drugs identified in the complaint
as among its 25 “key productsti( 11 125, 139, 158), support the contention that the alleged
price-fixing conspiracy idraudrelatedto Allergan’s core business.

4. Loss Causation

Allerganargues that plaintiffs have failed to adequately plead loss causattuoh is the
“causal connection between the matkmisrepresentation and the lossDura Pharm., Inc. v.
Broudg 544 U.S. 336, 342 (2005)In Dura, the Supreme Court rejected the Ninth Circuit’s
“inflated purchase price” approach to proving causation and loss.

The PSLRA does not impose any heightened pleading stanglaritie element of loss
causationordinary pleading rules applyld. at 347. The Third Circuit has adoptidpractical
approad, in effect applying general causation princiglashich requirs the plaintiff to show
“that the defendant misrepresented or omitted the very facts that were a tglbfeator in
causing the plaintiff's economic lossKMcCabe v. Ernst & Young, LLP194 F.3d 418, 426 (3d
Cir. 2007) (internal citations omitted).

Plaintiffs allege twodsscausation event$l) theAugust 6, 2015 disclosure that Allergan

had “received a subpoena from the D¥eéking information related to the marketing and pricing
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of certain of the Company’s generic products and communications with compelitarissaich
products; and (2) the November3, 2016 disclosure that the DOJ may press criminal charges
against generic drug manufacturef@dd Am. Compl. 11 2342.) Plaintiffs asserthatboth events

“were followed by significant declines in theige of Allergan securitiegOpp. Br. 36), withthe

common stock dropping $17.17 per share after the announcement of the DOJ subpoena and $9.07
per share after the news that the DOJ probe had intensified and charges mitgu dgainst
Allergan (d. 2).

Allerganargues that thennouncement of a subpoena or possible charges “does not permit
the conclusion wrongdoing actually occurred, which means any resultant stock dropusad
by speculation, not misrepresentatioaiting Loos v. Immersion Corp762 F.3d 880, 890 (9th
Cir. 2014), anong others (Moving Br. 35.) A later decision by the Ninth Circuit.loyd v. CVB
Financial Corp, noted that “Loos made clear that the announcement of a government
investigation, without more, cannot meet the loss causation requirement, but much tegeds a
here” and held thatan investigation can form the basis for a viable loss causation theory if the
complairt also alleged a subsequent corrective disclosure by the deféngaht-.3d 1200, 1210
(9th Cir. 2016).

As plaintiffs note numerous courts havepheld corrective disclosures premised upon
announcements of regulatory investigationgOpp. Br. 36(citing In re Bradley Pharms., Inc.
Sec. Litig, 421 F. Supp. 2d 822, 829 (D.N.J. 2006) (Hochberg, J(Jinding that the
announcement of an SEC inquiry, which caused a significant negative marketrr,esatisfied
the loss causation requirement “assthinotion to dismiss] stage of litigation).”) Hull v. Global

Digital Sols, Inc, No. 165153,2017 WL 6493148, at *+45 (D.N.J. Dec. 19, 2017) (Wolfson,
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J.) (finding that the complairtdequately alleged loss causation based on thec&&E@laint as a
corrective disclosure).)

In Hull, the defendants argued that the plaintiff “[could not] rely on the unproven
allegations in the SEC Complaint as a corrective disclosure in order to pleaatkiet srdiscovery
of Defendants’ alleged fraud.2017 WL 6493148, at *14. Judge Wolfsdisagreedguided by
“the Supreme Court’s general principle, announcedura Pharms.that a corrective disclosure
need not take a particular form; it is the exposure of the falsity of the fraucepeesentatiothat
is the critical component=a principle which, she notes, has led “various courts [to hold] that
allegations that a company was the subject of SEC investigations are sufficreeet the pleading
requirement for loss causationld., at *14-15 (collecting @se$; seealsq, e.g, In re TakeTwo
Interactive Sec. Litig551 F.Supp.2d 247, 287 (S.D.N.Y. 2008holding that a single notice that
the SEC was conducting an informal, faublic investigation coupled with a 7.5% stock price
drop the next dagreated a sufficient causal connection to plead loss caus®iige & Fire
Ret. Sys. of City of Detroit $afeNet, In¢.645 F. Supp. 2d 210, 231 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (news
that the “SDNY [US Attorney] and the SEC were investigating” “alone suffioeshow” loss
causation)Brumbaugh v. Wave Sys. Cqrl6 F. Supp. 2d 239, 256 (D. Mass. 200B)ding
loss causation adequately pled where the plaintiffs had alleged that the ctsmadpsure of
an SEC investigation relating aefendants allegedmisleading statements had “shocked the
market” and caused the stock price to drogeasoning it “so long as the plaintiff alleges that
the public disclosure reveals that the defendant company made false claintsgtamaséd on
those disclosures, a corresponding drop in stock price occurred, loss causation is ageedately
theHull court concluded:

Because, here, Plaintiff alleges that the SEC Complaint contains informatton th
directly reveals the truth regarding the alleged false statements madesbhg&res
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in their various press releases, and because thesSkSclosure causeddaop in
stock price, | find that SEC Complaint can be the basis for a corrective disclosur

2017 WL 6493148, at *15.

Here, plaintiffssimilarly allege thatthe disclosuresof Allergan’s involvement in the
antitrust investigation by the Justice Departm@viealedthe truth regarding the alleged false
statements Allergan made in press releases and caudeap an stock price That DOJ
investigation can be the basis for a corrective disclosure, and as a consequence, thagpports
plaintiffs’ loss causation theory.

Contrary toAllergan’sargument, the sale of Actavis to Teva does not immunize Allergan
shareholders from the losses suffered by the disclosure of the DOJ inv@s@ggtmore than the
sale releases Allergan from the investigation. As plaintiffs note, “it is morethasible that the
market was reacting to management’s concealment of and engagemeongadaing, negative
information which would have impacted Allergan’s stock, not Teva’s stock.” (OpR@9Br
Wheredefendants assert that it took two trading days for Allerganck $0 recoveafter the price
drop on November 32016, negating loss causatigplaintiffs counter that this argument is
unavailing at the pleading stagating Acticon AG v. China N.E. Petroleum Holdings L&D2
F.3d 34, 39 (2d Cir. 2012). The Court agrdegat this stage of litigatiorfactual issues such as
the market’s rate of recoveaye inappropriate for consideration.

Loss causation has been adequately pleaded for purposes of withstameliiggnfdmotion
to dismiss.
B. Section 20(a) Claim:Liability of Individual Defendants

Allerganseeks to dismisSount 2 of the second amended complaint, which asserts a claim

for violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act against individual defendaat®Bbaunders,

Joyce, Hilado, Olafsson, and BucheRlaintiffs’ Section 20(a) claim igremised on the thep
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thatthe individual defendants “were controlling persons of the Company during theRelasd,

due to their senior executive positions with the Company and their direct involvemira i
Company’s dayto-day operations, including their power to control or influence the policies and
practiced giving rise to the securities violations alleged herein, and exeifiessame.” 2d Am.
Compl.1284.)

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act creates a cause of action against individhaa
exercise control over‘@ontrolled person,” including a corporation, who has committed a Section
10(b) violation. 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a)see alsdn re Suprema Specialties, Inc. Sec. Ljt#8 F.3d
256, 284 (3d Cir. 2006) (“Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act imposes joint a@chiskability
upon one who controls a violator of Section 10(b).”) Additionally, the Third Circuit egjthat
the defendant “must have been a culpable participant in the act or acts conshisutiiogation or
cause of action” for Section 20(a)hikty to attach. Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, IncZ08 F.3d
470, 484 (3d Cir. 2013).

Allergan argueshat plaintiffsfail to state é&Section 20(a) claim becau$daintiffs have
failed to properly allege a 10(b) violation(Moving Br. 36.) Allergan also argues that “for the
same reasons Plaintiffs cannot plead scienter, they cannot plead culpabipapiarti” (d. 37.)
These arguments lack meriedause the Court has concluded that plaintiffs have adequately
pleaded &laim under Section 10fbAccordingly,Allergan’s motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ Section
20(a) claim is denied.

C. Section 14(a) and Rule 14a-@laims

Allerganfurtherseeks to dismiss Counts 3 and 4 of the second amended complaint,

which assert violationsf Section 14(a) of the Exchange Asctd Rule 14a-9 promulgated

thereunderngainst th014 and 2015 Boards of Directors respectivelythemgroundsthat they
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are timebarred. Allergan also argues that plaintfé to allege a material misstatement or
omission in the proxy statemsnto plead fraud with the required particularity, and to adequately
allege loss causatiorfMoving Br. 38-39.) The latter tihee arguments are meritless for the same
reasons discussed above in connection with plaintiffs’ Section 10(b) claim. And assdis

below, the claims will not be dismissed on timeliness grounds.

To state a claim under Section 14(a) and Rule 14&#tifs must allege that “(1) a
proxy statement contained a material misrepresentation or omission whiclug2yiche
plaintiff injury and (3)that the proxy solicitation itself, rather than the particular defect in the
solicitation materials, was an essential link in the accomplishment of the transadtiacirida
Corp. v. Daimler ChryslerA602 F.3d 212, 228 (3d Cir. 2007)he statute of limitations for a
Section 14(a) claim is one year from when the plaintiff discoverealplaintiff in the exerce
of reasonable diligence would have discovered, the facts essential to thewidlégistinghouse
Elec. Corp. v. Franklin993 F.2d 349, 353 (3d Cir. 1993).

With respect to timelinesgyllergan asserts that “because the initial complaint was filed
on November 11, 2016, the Section 14(a) claims are untimely if they were discovered, or
reasonably should have been discovered, on or before November 10, 2Z0&Eetfore, Allergan
argues that under plaintiffs’ own theorykatAllergan’s public disclosure on August 6, 2015,
that it received a subpoena from the Department of Justice “revealed ‘THE TRATActavis
had engaged in pride<«ing” (Moving Br. 39 (citing 2d Am. Compl. 1 234))—the Section 14(a)
claim is timebarred. In oral argument, Allergan underlined its position, stating: “[Plaintiffs]
cannot now go back and say, oh, well, wait a second. This is sufficient to establish loss
causation in a securities fraud claim, but not sufficient to put us on notice thettthe bas

begun to run.” (Transcript 41:2-7.)
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Thesecond amended complaint does not plead a single corrective discbyv&alng‘a
full-throated fraud”ifl. 121:18-21) rather plaintiffs allege'multiple partial corrective
disclosures’(id. 122:3-4), demonstrating that “the misconduct has been . . . leaked out over
time” (id.120:7-8). Thusplaintiffs arguethatthe August 6, 2015 subpoena announcement did
not reveal information sufficient for a reasonable inme4b conclude that there was fraud here”
(id. 120:22-25), and accordingly, cannot serve as the date on thleiéimitations clockbegan to
run. Instead, [aintiffs contend that “[t]he statute of limitations does not begin to run until the
facts constifting every element could have been discovered.” (Transcript 120:1441i8.)
accordswith Hull. 2017 WL 6493148, at *@oncluding that public disclosures that satisfied the
loss causation element did not mark the start of the limitations period)

Further, the Court agre@sth plaintiffs’ assertion that a finding of untimeliness is
“inappropiate at this stage of thitigation” because whether plaintiffs were on “inquiry notice
of the alleged price fixing as of the filing of Allergan’s FormQ®n August 6, 2015” is a fact-
sensitive inquiry. (Opp. Br. 39 n.22 (citi@alifornia Pub. Employees’ Ret. Sys. v. Chubb
Corp., No. 00-4285, 2002 WL 33934282, at *25 (D.N.J. June 26, 2002) (Brown, J.) (“In the
context of a motion to dismiss . . . the question of when the plaintiffs should have known of the
alleged violation often requires a fact sensitive inquiry that is nabpppte at this early stage
of the proceedings.”’) Heeding the Third Circuit’s ruling th&tf a statute of limitations bar ‘is
not apparent on the face of the complaint, then it may not serve as the basis fossatisitihe
complaint under Rul&2(b)(6)’ ” Rycoline Products, Inc. v. C & W Unlimitet)9 F.3d 883,

886 (3d Cir. 1997)ifternal citations omitted)the Court denies Allergan’s motion to dismiss

the Section 14(a) claim for untimeliness
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V. Conclusion
For the reasons set forth above, the Court denies Allergan’s motion to dismiss. An

appropriate order will follow.

/sl Katharine S. Hayden
Date:August § 2019 Katharine S. Hayden, U.S.D.J

31



